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RECONSIDERATION 

On September 8, 2022, after the court issued its Order Granting Petition for Writ of Mandate 
on September 6, 2022, the court advised the parties it was considering changing its order 
pursuant to Le Francois v. Goel (2005) 35 Cal.4th 1094. The court indicated it believed it may 
have erred in finding the underlying agency decision should be evaluated under the court's 
independent judgment. The court noted its September 6, 2022 order granting the petition 
made findings under both independent judgment and substantial evidence such that the court's 
underlying decision granting the writ would not be affected. The court's September 6, 2022 
order found no evidence (regardless of the standard of judicial review) to suppc,rt College's 
finding of retaliation by Petitioner. The court provided the parties with an opportunity to be 
heard on the issue and allowed both briefing and argument. 

Having considered the parties positions further, the court grants reconsideration, reconsiders 
the order and modifies the order to reflect the court'-s proper standard of review. The court 
finds-as to this particular decision by Respondent-proper judicial review under Code of Civil 
Procedure section 1094.5 is by substantial evidence. 

The court has interlineated its earlier decision to reflect the change, has added a section 
concerning the standard of review, and reissues it here. The interlineation is intended to leave 
the court's prior decision and rationale intact. 

Petitioner, Aaron Kunin, seeks a writ of mandate compelling Respondent, Pomona College 
(College), to set aside its August 12, 2020 disciplinary decision requiring him to complete 
certain training and prohibiting him from holding the position of Chair of the English 
Department any time prior to the Fall of 2030. The discipline followed an inves:igation by 
College into claims of racial discrimination and retaliation by fellow colleagues, Professors 
Valorie Thomas and Kyla Tompkins. Petitioner seeks relief pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure 
section 1094.5. College opposes the Petition. 

The Petition is granted. 

Ill 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE1 

Petitioner is an Associate Professor of English at College. (AR 544, 1439.) 

Professor Valorie Thomas is a Professor of English and Africana Studies at College. (AR 544, 548, 
704.) 

Professor Kyla Tompkins.is an Associate Professor of Gender and Women's Studies as well as 
English at College. (AR 544, 704.) 

On October 3, 2019, Thomas and Tompkins filed a complaint with College against Petitioner. 
"[T]he primary allegations involved race discrimination and retaliation; in addition, concerns 
were expressed regarding gender bias as to specific actions taken by [Petitioner] in his role as 
Chair of the English Department." (AR 516.) The details of the events as relevan: to this dispute 
are set forth below. 

Proposed Course on Ralph Ellison and Subsequent Obiections 

In September 2016, Petitioner proposed to the then-Chair of the English Department, Professor 
Kevin Dettmar, that he (Petitioner} teach a seminar course during the Spring of 2017 on Ralph 
Ellison, a 20th Century African American author. (AR 545.) Thomas and Tompkins each 
informed Dettmar they objected to Petitioner teaching such a course due to their concerns 
Petitioner did not have the training necessary to teach it. (AR 676, 737.) Dettmar responded to 
their concerns by informing them he had asked Petitioner to reconsider teachirg the course. 
{AR 545, 738.) Petitioner thereafter withdrew his proposal to teach the course. (AR 545, 738.) 

About a month later, however, on October 1, 2016, Petitioner proposed he tea,:h a seminar 
course on Ralph Ellison, entitled "Ralph Ellison's America;" Dettmar shared Petitioner's 
proposal with the English Department. (AR 546.) 

On October 2, 2016, Tompkins emailed Petitioner and informed him she believied he was 
unqualified to teach the course. (AR 546.) On October 3, 2016, Thomas emailed the English 
Department objecting to Petitioner teaching the Ralph Ellison course. (AR 547.] 

Petitioner then emailed Thomas and apologized; he requested they meet in person. (AR 547.) 
On October 12, 2016, Petitioner and Thomas met in Petitioner's office to discuss Petitioner 
teaching the proposed Ralph Ellison course. (AR 547.) During the discussion, Thomas informed 

Petitioner she would not object to him teaching the course. (AR 547 .) 

On May 30, 2017, Petitioner and Thomas met again to discuss Petitioner's plan to teach a 
course on Ralph Ellison and blues music in the Fall of 2017. (AR 548.) Petitioner informed 

1 Many of the undisputed facts are taken from the investigator's report. 
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Thomas he was also interested in teaching a seminar course on writers (including Ralph Ellison) 
who criticize sociology (later entitled "Five American Writers"). (AR 548.) 

In the Fall of 2017, Petitioner taught a course on Ralph Ellison. (AR 548.) 

Robert's Rules of Order and Funding Policies 

On July 1, 2018, Petitioner became Chair of the English Department, replacing D~ttmar. (AR 
549.) Upon becoming Chair, Petitioner scheduled one-on-one meetings with department 
faculty to discuss implementing new procedures for department meetings and business, 
including the approval of faculty-requested fuRding. (AR 549.) Petitioner sought to implement 
new procedures to ensure he treated everyone in the department equally. (AR 534.) 

At College, there are various sources of funds for a department faculty member (1) a faculty 
member's discretionary "opportunity" funds; (2) funds through the Dean's office, such as WIG 
grants; or (3) department funds, which includes the sizeable Warren Fund (with a balance of 
approximately $1 million). (AR 534.) 

On September 11, 2018, Petitioner held his first meeting with the department as Chair. (AR 
550.) The department's members present voted and agreed to adopt a "loose" version of 
Robert's Rules of Order to govern the department's approval of faculty requests for funding. 
(AR 550.) The rules adopted by the department provided: (1) all deliberation of department 
business had to occur at a meeting, either in person or via telephone or video p3rticipation; 
(2) Petitioner, as Chair, could unilaterally grant all department funding requests up to $1,000, 
however, the department members had to vote on all funding requests of $1,000 or more at an 
in-person meeting; and (3) department faculty could not "hot dog slice" reques:s, meaning 
department faculty could not make multiple requests under $1,000 for the same event or 
purpose to circumvent the in-person requirement for requests for $1,000 or more. (AR 533, 
550.) 

Thomas' February 11. 2019 Request for $300 in Funding for Zines 

On February 1, 2019, Thomas emailed Petitioner informing him she would like to "submit a 
request for what used to be called a 'course improvement grant.' " (AR 1665.) Thomas reported 
she intended to purchase zines, or small print-works, for her students in "ENG :24 
Afrofuturisms." (AR 1665.) Petitioner responded to Thomas: "I think the course improvement 
grant is called a WIG grant, and it's administered by Jan Roselle in the Dean's o-=fice. The 
application form should be available on the Dean's website." (AR 1665.) Thomes advised 
Petitioner she would "pursue the WIG grant." (AR 1665.) 

On February 11, 2019, ten days after their communication about a WIG grant, -;-homas emailed 
Petitioner advising she was "pressed for time" and_ would be unable to obtain c1 WIG grant to 
timely purchase the zines for her students. (AR 1418.) Thomas asked Petitioner if she could use 
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department funds to place the order for the zines and later reimburse the department with the 
WIG grant money she anticipated receiving. (AR 1418.) 

Petitioner told Thomas she could use Petitioner's individual "opportunity funds/' as opposed to 
department funds, and then later reimburse Petitioner's opportunity funds when Thomas 
obtained the WIG grant. (AR 1418.) Petitioner also informed Thomas, "[iJf for some reason the 
[WIG] grant doesn't come through-if they have already burned through the en:ire WIG fund 
or if we missed a deadline or something-I'm ol<ay with that." (AR 1418.) Thomes responded, 
"[t]hank you, and I'll submit the WIG request asap. If those funds aren't availabl:: you can take 
the reimbursement out of my opp[ortunity] funds for next year if that's doable .... Much 
appreciated." (AR 1418.) · 

A few months later, on May 15, 2019, Thomas emailed Petitioner requesting "tt-e English 
Department available budget be used to cover the $300 cost of the zines for my ENG 124 class 
this semester." (AR 1830.) Petitioner responded to Thomas stating Petitioner used his "own 
opportunity funds to pay" for Thomas' zines, "and [their] agreement was that rry fund would 
be reimbursed out of the WIG grant that you were applying for." (AR 1829.) Thomas 
responded: 

"Please would you just cut the static and reimburse your $300 opporturity funds 
out of the restricted funds; it was just not necessary for you to make me apply to 
WIG for that in the first place. There is plenty of precedent for such appl cation of 
the restricted funds especially for small amounts in time sensitive situations -
many times faculty have used it to pay for things like class parties and 
refreshments, field trips, have even used it to mount installations and bJild giant 
puppets in Joshua Tree (Dick Barnes), and have used them to build an entire small 
theater (Steve Young) with a stage, lights, a sound board, and blackout curtains, 
that used to be in the classroom across from Cr 10 -- those funds are regularly 
used for any and everything." (AR 1828.) 

Petitioner responded: 

"You don't have to convince me about the use of [WIG] grants. As I said below, I 
agree with you. I have never advocated a policy of 'going to [WIG] first.' However, 
if our colleagues vote that a request should go to [WIG}, or if you propose 
submitting a request to [WIGJ, then you should submit your request to [WIG]. In 
the case of the zines, I insisted that the money to reimburse my opp[ortunityJ 
funds should come from the [WIG] grant because applying for a [WIG] grant was 
the plan you originally proposed, and that was the plan I· originally approved. 
When you submit multiple requests for the same object or purpose, that is hot 
dog slicing, which is not allowed under the rules that we created for the 
department in September 2018. If the money isn't reimbursed from the [WIG] 
grant, then it won't be reimbursed. If you're okay with that, it's your call." (AR 
1828.) 
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As a result of her exchange with Petitioner, on May 22, 2019, Thomas informed department 
faculty in an email she believed Petitioner's actions have forced a "double standard" with . 
respect to the approval of faculty funding. Thomas also expressed Petitioner caused her to be 
manipulated "into this borrower lender welfare queen status when the funds are sitting there 
gathering dust." (AR 1858.) She claimed Petitioner was "weaponizing" Robert's Rules of Order 
"and an absurd corporatism around it." (AR 1857.) Thomas also declared the department "is 
not a corporate boardroom."2 (AR 1857.) Thomas also accused Petitioner of "pedantic 
stubbornness." (AR 1857.)3 

Thomas' February 26, 2019 Request for $2,400 in Funding for the lnnerlight Method Course 

A week prior to her email complaining that Robert's Rules of Order had been weaponized, on 
May 15, 2019, Thomas emailed Petitioner requesting he approve her request for funding of 
$2,400 to permit her to register for a course supporting pedagogy and professional 
development (the lnnerlight Method Course).4 (AR 1830.) In the email, Thomas reminded 
Petitioner he had previously advised her to apply for a WIG grant to obtain the funds, and she 
had waited over two months for approval of the WIG grant with no response. (AR 1830.) 
Thomas also informed Petitioner that College was unable to provide her with an estimate of 
when the WIG grant request would be decided. (AR 1830.) Thomas stated her $2,400 request 
was "time sensitive" as she had repeatedly deferred payment of the course's registration fees. 
(AR 1830.) 

On May 16, 2019, Petitioner responded to Thomas advising he did not "have the authority to 
approve requests for $1,000 and above." (AR 1829.) Petitioner stated Thomas' options were to 
make a request for such funding over $1,000 during a department meeting in September (when 
College would presumably reopen for the fall semester) or use her own opportunity funds. (AR 
1829.) Petitioner stated for the time being, he "could approve a smaller amount if that would 
be useful." (AR 1829.) 

On May 17, 2019, Thomas advised Petitioner the deadline to pay the registration fee for the 
course was June 9, 2019, less ttian a month away. (AR 1827.) Thomas reminded Petitioner the 
semester has not ended and requested Petitioner call an emergency meeting of the 
department to vote on approval of her funding request, or alternatively organize a vote by 

2 Thomas' email to the department was also informed by a series of emails discussed in the next 
section concerning a request for $2,400 which preceded Thomas' all department email. 
3 In response to Thomas' email, Petitioner wrote to the department: "Hello everyone[.] Let's 
save these issues for discussion with a mediator. Best wishes[.]" (AR 1857 .) 
4 During argument, Petitioner suggested it was Thomas' colleagues who required that she apply 
for a WIG grant. That discussion, however, did not concern the lnnerlight Method Course, it 
addressed travel to New York City "for an African American and Afrofuturism art exhibition for 
research purposes and to a Toni Morrison event .... " (AR 1202.) 
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email. (AR 1828-1829.) Thomas informed Petitioner that he was, once again, restricting her 
ability to use department funds, a permitted use under the rules. (AR 1828-1829.) 

That same day, Petitioner responded to Thomas: "if people are willing to stick around after the 
[department] reception tomorrow, I'll try to get a quorum together. We can't take a vote by 
email. Such a vote would be invalid according to the rules we adopted in September 2018." (AR 
533 [in person rule], 1828.) 

Despite Petitioner's indication he would attempt to conduct an in-person meeting after a 
scheduled reception, Thomas did not appear the next day. (AR 1842.) Thomas did not receive 
the email about the meeting.5 (AR 820, 1842.) Tompkins, who was present at the emergency 
meeting after the reception, requested to represent Thomas at the meeting; Tompkins was not 
allowed to do so.6 (AR 1843.) 

When Thomas realized she had missed the emergency meeting, she emailed the department 
requesting the department meet and vote remotely. (AR 820.) Petitioner responded by 
suggesting the possibility of adopting "a more casual procedure for voting on requests for 
money" in the future, but he warned that more lenient procedures could endanger department 
funding altogether. (AR 1842.) 

5 During argument, Petitioner suggested Thomas took a break from reviewing her email 
communications after having received notice of the emergency meeting. The court cannot find 
that to be true. It appears Thomas took the break after receiving a communication from 
Petitioner at 3:53 p.m. on May 17, 2019. (See AR 1828, 1842.) At best, that 3:53 p.m. 
communication loosely suggested Petitioner would set up a meeting. Petitioner sent his email 
suggesting a meeting take place at 4:45 p.m. on May 17, 2019. On May 18, 2013, at 1:43 p.m. 
(after the meeting) Thomas acknowledged she was delayed in seeing the communication 
because of her break. (AR 1851.) Six minutes later Thomas described her situat on. (AR 1849.} 
6 Petitioner's unwillingness to allow Tompkins to represent Thomas' view led Tompkins to send 
an email to the members of the department. She wrote: 

"And incidentally, I'll just put it on the record that [Petitioner] was willing to 
represent Jonathan's point of view when he was absent from a tenure vote in the 
fall, but not [Thomas'] when she didn't get the email in time to attend today's 
meeting and ask for funds when she needs them. Nor mine when I coulcil't attend 
an important meeting in the fall because of my joint appointment. \Jor was I 

allowed to represent [Thomas'] information today when I asked if I coL Id get the 
info and represent her. Now we won't meet to give our colleague the financial 
support she deserves. ,i This is just straight up discrimination, albeit through the 
picayunities of small-p process. I suggest this goes to the Dean. Nobody should sit 
by when it would be so easy to simply be gracious and kind and support a 
colleague with money that we have, never mind our most senior colleague." (AR 
1843.) 
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On May 22, 2019, Thomas emailed Petitioner, requesting Petitioner schedule a second 
emergency meeting after she learned her application for a WIG grant had been denied. (AR 
2415.) Petitioner declined Thomas' request. 

On May 30, 2019, College's Dean's Office approved_ a research grant for Thomas to pay the 
registration fee for the lnnerlight Method Course. 

College Retains Mediator to Address Department's Concerns 

In June 2019, College hired Nyree Gray, Assistant Vice President for Diversity and Inclusion and 
Chief Civil Rights Officer at Claremont McKenna College, to serve as a mediator for the English 
Department. (AR 1815.) The purpose of the mediation was to assist the department in 
developing infrastructure and consensus regarding funding rules and procedures. (AR 1941.) In 
the early Fall of 2019, Gray met with Petitioner to address concerns raised by Thomas and 
Tompkins .. 

Petitioner's "Five American Authors" Course 

On October 3, 2019, Petitioner informed Thomas that the Department needed a senior-level 
course for the Spring of 2020 and asked if she was i,r1terested in teaching a senior-level course. 
(AR 825, 2004.) Petitioner informed Thomas that, in the event she was unavailable to teach a 
senior-level course, Petitioner would "probably have to do it." (AR 2004.) Petitioner informed 

Thomas that his course "would be some version of the seminar [theyJ discussec in 2017-
American writers who defend literature against sociological analysis (Ellison, Murray, Arendt, 
Jacobs, Kubler)." (AR 2004.) Thomas declined to teach the senior-level course. (~R 2003.) As a 
result, Petitioner indicated he would teach the proposed seminar and previewed his course to 
Associate Dean Mary Coffey the following day. (AR 825.) 

Later on October 3, 2019, Thomas emailed Petitioner and the department, stat ng she did not 
endorse Petitioner teaching the course. (AR 2002.) Thomas reported that, while she may have 
endorsed Petitioner teaching the course in 2017, she had erred; Thomas felt as if she was 
backed "into a corner" and forced to silence her objections. (AR 2002.) Thomas maintained that 
Petitioner did not hold the expertise to teach such a course and had directly invaded the 
intellectual focus of her and Tompkins. (AR 2002.} 

Despite Thomas' objections, on October 9, 2019, Petitioner submitted his course proposal to 
the Curriculum Committee, entitled "Five American Writers Who Had a Problem with the Social 
Sciences." (AR 568,825, 2013, 2039.) During this time, Thomas submitted her own course 
proposal to the Curriculum Committee proposing to teach a course concerning Ralph Ellison. 
(AR 700, 2048, 2051.) On October 17, 2019, the Curriculum Committee approved Petitioner's 
course. (AR 2048.) The Curriculum Committee did not approve Thomas' course "because 
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[Petitioner] told [Coffey] that the course shqu_ld not be approved because he was already 
offering a course on Ellison."7 (AR 825-826.) 

Thereafter, on October 18, 2019, Gray discussed her concerns regarding Petitioner teaching a 
course in competition with Thomas' proposed course. (AR 826.) Gray told Petitioner he did not 
need to teach the course because Thomas was willing to teach. (AR 826.) Petitioner told Gray 
"he was planning to teach his course because he believed he was being 'intellectually brave' 
and that he was 'tired of being bullied.' " (AR 826.) 

College's Investigation, Determination, and Sanction of Petitioner 

On October 3, 2019, Thomas filed a complaint against Petitioner regarding his actions as Chair 
of the department. (AR 652.) Petitioner learned of Thomas' complaint on November 12, 2019. 
{AR 571.} 

On October 28, 2019, College retained Angela Reddock-Wright who conducted an investigation 
into Thomas' complaint from October 28, 2019 through March 17, 2020. (AR 6S2.) Following 
Investigator Reddock-Wright's retention, Tompkins filed a complaint against Pe1itioner. (AR 

652.) 

On December 4, 2019, Sue McCarthy, College's Associate Dean and Title IX Coordinator, sent an 
email to Petitioner. (AR 2780.) The email advised Petitioner that Thomas and Tcmpkins had 
filed "two complaints" against him, based upon "allegations that involved gender 
bias/harassment as well as race discrimination/harassment." {AR 2780.) The err ail advised 
Petitioner that Thomas and Tompkins alleged the incidents occurred "sometime last year and 
have persisted despite reports to administration and the involvement of extern3I consult Nyree 
Gray." (AR 2780.} The email informed Petitioner his behavior might constitute a violation of 
College's Discrimination and Harassment Policy,8 and College's Sexual Misconduct, Harassment 
and Discrimination Policy, which were included for reference through hyperlinks. (AR 2780-
2781.) The email further advised Petitioner Investigator Reddock-Wright had been retained to 
investigate the complaints, and Investigator Redock-Wright would interview Petitioner. (AR 
2781.) Finally, the email reported the investigator had conducted initial interviews with Thomas 
and Tompkins. (AR 2780.) 

7 The facts concerning this issue are somewhat confusing. Thomas acknowledged on November 
22, 2019 that her course had been approved. (AR 175.) It appears, however, Petitioner did not 
schedule the course so Thomas would teach it sometime later-after Petitione- had completed 
his course. 
8 College's complete policy is not provided in the administrative record. Nonetr.eless, 
"[s]ex/gender and raced-based discrimination, [is] defined in the Policy where someone is 
treated unfavorably because of that person's sex/gender or race." (AR 2781.) The policy defines 
retaliation as "the taking of an adverse action by any student, faculty or staff rrember against 
another individual as a result of that individual's exercise of a right under this Policy, including 
participation in reporting, investigation or hearing as provided in this Policy." (AR 2781.) 
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During Investigator Reddock-Wright's investigation, she interviewed Petitioner three times, 
Tompkins twice, and Thomas once. (AR 518.) Investigator Reddock-Wright advised Petitioner of 
the specific complaints made by Thomas and Tompkins during his interview. Petitioner 
provided a response to each specific allegation made. (AR 532-539.) Investigator Reddock­
Wright interviewed fifteen additional witnesses, including department faculty, current and 
former administrators, and other third-party witnesses. (AR 518-519.) 

On March 17, 2020, Investigator Reddock-Wright provided a 178-page confidential 
investigation report, which outlined the following adverse findings with respect to Thomas' and 
Tompkins' complaints: (1) Petitioner's implementation of Robert's Rules of Order was 
inconsistent and unnecessarily burdensome, and the inconsistencies and manner of 
implementation targeted and singled out Thomas and Tompkins, and Petitioner's actions were 
taken in retaliation for Thomas' protected assertions of racial discrimination; and 
(2} Petitioner's proposal to teach "Five American Authors" was in retaliation against Thomas, 
due to Thomas' repeated criticisms about Petitioner. (AR 521-522.} 

On April 24, 2020, following a review of Investigator Reddock-Wright's Report and 
corresponding evidentiary documents, College issued a statement of policy violations. (AR 514-
524.} College's statement amended Investigator Reddock-Wright's findings, somewhat, and 
came to the following conclusions: (1) Petitioner applied Roberts Rules of Order and other 
budgeting and administrative processes to Thomas in an inconsistent manner, in an effort to 
single out and retaliate against Thomas for her protected assertions of racial discrimination; 
and (2} Petitioner retaliated against Thomas by his "sustained effort to thwart Thomas' [ownJ 
efforts to teach her proposed course in favor of his own proposal," due to Thomas' "prior and 
sustained complaints regarding her sincerely held concerns over the race issues associated with 
his proposal and more generally within the Department." (AR 521-523.) College amended 
Investigator Reddock-Wright's findings, stating Petitioner did not commit the same 
impermissible acts against Tompkins-only against Thomas. (AR 521-523.) 

On August 12, 2020, College imposed the following disciplinary actions against Petitioner based 
upon its findings Petitioner had violated College's policies: (1) Petitioner was required to 
undergo and complete Implicit Bias Training by May 31, 2021; (2) Petitioner was prohibited 
from holding the position of Chair of the English Department or any other academic 
department prior to the Fall of 2030; (3) Petitioner was required to undergo Leadership 
Training prior to being eligible to Chair a faculty committee; and (4) Petitioner was prohibited 
from having any role in the promotion activities of Tompkins. (AR 2510-2511.) 

This proceeding ensued. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Petitioner seeks an order compelling College to set aside its August 12, 2020 disciplinary 
decision requiring him to complete certain training and prohibiting him from holding the 
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position of Chair of the English Departme'nt prior to the Fall of 2030. He brings this action 
pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.5. 

Under Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.5, subdivision (b), the issues for review of an 
administrative decision are: whether the respondent has proceeded without jurisdiction, 
whether there was a fair trial, and whether there was a prejudicial abuse of discretion. An 
abuse of discretion is established if the respondent has not proceeded in the mcnner required 
by law, the decision is not supported by the findings, or the findings are not sup::,orted by the 
evidence. (Code Civ. Proc. § 1094.5, subd. (b).) 

Where a petitioner contends the administrative agency's findings are not supported by the 
evidence, Code of Civil Procedure "section 1094.5, subdivision (c), does not establish a single 
standard for judicial review of the evidentiary basis for agency determinations." (Bixby v. Pierno 
(1971) 4 Cal.3d 130, 137; Code Civ. Proc. § 1094.5, subd. (c).) Rather, Code of Ci·,il Procedure 
section 1094.5, subdivi~ion (c) articulates two possible standards of review-incependent 
judgment and substantial evidence. (Code Civ. Proc.§ 1094.5, subd. (c).) The parties dispute the 
applicable standard he_re. That College is a private agency is not determinative on the standard 
of review to be used here. (See Anton v. San Antonio Community College Hosp. 1_1977) 19 Cal.3d 
802, 816-817 [superseded by Code Civ. Proc.§ 1094.5, subd. (d)].) 

The independent judgment standard of review will apply where an administratiJe agency's 
decision "substantially affects a fundamentally vested right." (Bixby v. Pierno, supra, 3 Cal.3d at 

144.) Where an agency's decision does not, however, "substantially affect a fundamentally 
vested right," the substantial evidence standard of review applies. (Ibid.) 

"The courts must decide on a case-by-case basis whether an administrative decision or class of 
decisions substantially affects fundamental vested rights and thus requires independent 
judgment review." (Ibid.) To determine whether a right is fundamental, courts do not solely 
weigh the economic aspect of the right but consider the effect of the right in human terms and 
the importance of the right to the individual in the life situation. (Id. at 144-14S.) A right will be 
considered "fundamental" where the right involves "the opportunity to continue the practice of 
one's trade and profession." (Ibid.) Additionally, while the Supreme Court in Bi>·by v. Pierno 
indicated independent judgment review is triggered only if the fundamental vested right in 
question was "substantially affected" by the agency decision, later case law "ha[s] not inquired 
into the degree to which the right in question was affected by the agency action." (Asimow, et 
al., Cal. Practice Guide: Administrative Law (The Rutter Group, 2021) § 17:485.) "{T]he crucial 
question is not the actual amount of harm or damage in the particular case but the essential 
character of the right in human terms. Thus, the critical area of focus is the natJre of the 
right .... " (Dickey v. Retirement Board (1976) 16 Cal.3d 745, 751.) 

Petitioner moves to set aside discipline imposed on him by College resulting from its finding 
Petitioner retaliated against Professor Thomas "based on Thomas' protected assertions of racial 
discrimination." (AR 521.) In addition to requiring Petitioner to complete certain training, the 
discipline imposed on Petitioner by College prohibits him from acting as chair c,f any 

Page 10 of 33 



r-...> 

.. 
department at College until 2030. As noted ey WeRces v. City eflos ARgeJes (2009) 177 

Cal.App.4th 30S, 312 318, wl=lile the indepeFident judgment stanelara applies to an agenc>/s 
employee eliscl=large decisions, all forms of emplo'(ee eliseipline, inch,JdiRg a mere reprimand, 
affect a f1::1Rdamental right and are to be aff.ordeel iF:idependeRt judgment re\•iew. (lh!EI.) As here, 
the discipline ma'/ affect future personnel aRd discipliRar'( decisioRs. Sucl=l discipliRe ma'( also 
affect fut1;1re opportuRities for career advancemeRt. (/.d. at 316.) 

The co1;1rt finds the proper staRdard of j1;1diEial review here is iRdepeRelcRt j1::1elgmeRt. The court 

is not persldaded B'/ College's claim its discipline allo·,.,s Petitioner te remain a member of its 
facult'; and thcrefere substantial evideRcc review sheuld apf;)ly. College's discipline affected 
Petitioner's f1:JndameRtal right in that it impacts his aeility to f1:Jlly p1;1rs1:Je his career and 
epport1:Jnities at College at least 1::1ntil tl:ie !=all of 2030. Tl:ie discipline l:lere "implicates a rigl:it 
tl:lat is important to [Petitioner] in l=lis life situation e·,en in tl:le aesencc of an immediate 
economic impact." (#Bid.) 

!=1:Jrther, the court is unpers1:Jadca b·t College's reliance 1;1pon Dev. RegeRts ef URiversity of 
Cs/.iferRis (2013) 216 Cal.App.4th 1474, 1489 [Do]. College cites Do for the proposition tl:lat a 
partv's f1::1ndamental rights are not involved where the party "has not (beeR] depri¥eel of the 
right to v.iork elsewhere." (Do, S~fJre, 216 Cal.App.4th at 1qg9. [emplovee '\·,as Rot disehargeel 
iR violation of anv p1::1blie policy, stat1;1tory or coRtraetual right. [Citation.] Rather, !=le was 
elismissed beca1::1se he failed to complv with Universit•,• policy and core val1::1es. Me has Rot eeen 
eleprived of the right to 'Nork elsewhere, only at the URiversitv."]) 

De is elisting1::1ishaele. Do turned on the Regents of U1c Uni•,ersit'/ of California's status as an 
agenc'( of eonstit1;1tional origiR. (!EJ.. at 1485. ["A right to 'a full and independent j1::1dicial review' 
of an agenc•/s decision to terminate an ineli•1idual's p1:1bliE employment eloes not exist in tl=le 
case of ageRcies 'of constitutional origiR •,nhich have eeen granted limited j1;1dieial power by the 
Constitution itself.' [Citation.] Th1c1s, 'It is establisl:ied that when a revie'N of a decisioR of an 
age A Of fa Iii Ag within [s1:1ch] eategories is so1:1ght fll::IFS1:1ant to sectioR 1Q94 .5 of the Code of Ci\•il 
Proeedure, tl=le eo1:1rt's ser1c1tiny of tl:ie agenE'/s fact1:1al findings is limited to a eletermiRation 
wl=ietl:ier those fiRelings are s1:1pportea bv s1:1bstantial evidence in ligl:it of tl=ie whole record amt 
this is so wl:iether or Rot tl:ie eecision of the ageRey affects a fuRdamental vested rigl:it.' 
[Citation.] !sRiFRflfs1,1 a Rel AFRH:JNeR ... are generally a·eceptea autl=lorities statiRg that the 
California Constit1:1tion has graRted the University [of California] quasi j1:1aieial po·.vers regareJiRg 
matters falling witl=liR its eroad powers to organize and govern tl:ie 1:1Riversity, ana this incl1:Jdes 

quasi judicial adjudication of em13loyment rigl:!ts. [Citation.] ~ucl:l University administrative 
decisions are subjeEt to review under the substantial eviaence rule."])9 

9 Where the proper standarEI of reviev,i is in issue, the "ultimate question in each case is 
whether the affected right is deemed to be of sufficient significance to preclude its e*tinction or 
abrielgernent by a bodv lacking judicial povver." ( V'/ences 1,•. City of Los Angeles, supra, 177 
Cal.App.4th at 313 [citing Interstate Brands v. Unem1=7Jo~1ment !ns. Appeals B<i. (1980) 2e Cal.3d 
770, 780].) 
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Tl=tis aetioR eloes Rot iR11olve tl=te RegeRts of tl=te URiversitv ef CalifoFRia er aR'( otu:ier age Re'{ ef .. 
eoRstitt1tieRal origiR. De is iRa1313licaele 1:iere. 

Cellege's claiFR iRele13eReleRt jt18gFReRt occ1:1rs ORI'( iR tl=ie ceRtext ef geveFRFReRtal eFR13IO'{FReRt 
Rot 13rivate eFR13loyers is Ret 13ers1:1asive. Tl=tat College is a 13rivate iRstit1:1tioR sees Rot elictate 
s1:1estaRtial evieleRee re·;iew. (See, e.g., ARteR v'. Sf.1R ARteRfe CeFRFRt,JRity Cellege /=lesp., Sl:JfJff.l, 

19 Cal.~e 8Q2, 810 817 [st113erseetee ey Ceefo· Civ. Proc. § 1094.S, s1:1eel. (eJ); /J.Jphs f'Jt,J AsseefetieR 
ef Tl=,eta X! v. URi'lersit)' ef&e1::1theFR GalifeFRie (2Q21) 02 Cal.A1313.Stl=t ~83, 4Q8 411 [eleterFRiRiRg 
applieaele staReJarel ef reviev, for frateFRitv's eJisci13liRe at f)Fivate l::IAiversitv].) 

IReJe13eReleRt jt1eJgFReRt revie1N 13roFR13ts tl=te co1:1rt to eJeciele wl=tetl=ier tl=te weigl=tt ef tl=te evieleRce 
s1:11313erts tl=te aelFRiRistrative fiReliRgs (ratRer tl=iaR wl=ietl=ier s1:1estaRtial evieleRce st11313orts tl:ie 
fiReliAgs). (Coele Civ. Pree.§ 1094.S, s1:113el. (c). [">Nl=tere it is claiFReel tl=tat tl=te fiRel Rgs are Rot 
s1:11313orteel ey tl:ie evieleRce, iR cases iR wl=iicl=t tl=ie co1:1rt is a1:1tl=torizeel ey law to e:;ercise its 
iRele13eReleRt j1:1eigFReRt OR tl=te evieleRce, ae1:1se of eiiscretioR is estaelisl=teei if tl=te co1:1rt 
eieterFRiRes tl:iat tl=te fiReiiRgs are Rot s1:11313erteei 13y tl=te \Veigl=tt of tl=ie evieleRce."]9 Tl:it1s, a trial 
co1:1rt " 'Rot ORiy e)EaFRiRes tl=te aelFRiRistrative recorei for errors of law l:n,1t also e:<ercises its 
iReie13eReleRt j1:1eigFReAt 1:1130R tl=te evieleRce.'" (f.1:1!ft,JOO v. City f>fARgels (1999) 2Gt Cal.4tl:i 8QS, 
810, fR. 8; B.'*'3;• v. P-ierRe, Sl,Jf)ff.l, 4 Cal. 3ei at 143 [1:1Reier iRele13eReleRt jt1eigFReRt "tl=te trial coYrt 
Rot ORiy e)EaFRiRes tl=te aeiFRiRistr=ative recorei for errors of law, 131:1t also exercise:: its 
iRele13eReleRt j1:1elgFReAt 1:1130R tl=te evieleRce eliscloseel iR a liFRiteel trial ele Rovo"].: Tl=te cot1rt 
FR1:1st eJra\\l its o·.vR reasoRaele infereRces freFR tl:ie evieleRce aRei FRake its owR creeJieility 
eleterFRiRatioRs. (Me:=rfseR • .,_ l=le1,1sfRg A1,1theFity ef tRe City efles ARgetes BEi. efCeFRFS. (2003) 
1Q7 Cal. P.1313. 4tl=t 800, 808; Berber Y. LeRg Beaeh CiY.iJ &erliee Cem. (1990) 4S Cal.A1313.4tl=t 0S2, 
0S8 (iReie13eReleRt j1:1ElgFReRt "elees 13erFRit (iReleeel, [] re1:11:1ires) tl=ie trial ce1:1rt to rev,eigt:i tl=te 
evieieRce B'f eMaFRiRiRg tl=te ereelii3ility of \VitResses"].) 

The parties agree the courts' standard of review turns on the nature of the administrative 
decision and the rights impacted by that decision. The question becomes what did the agency 
decide, what does the decision do, and what rights, if any, does the decision im:>act. Where a 
right is impacted, the court must then determine whether the right is a fundamental vested 
one. "If ... the administrative decision neither involves nor substantially affect~ a fundamental 
vested right, the trial court's review is limited to determining whether the admi1istrative 
findings are supported by substantial evidence." (Wences v. City of Los Angeles (2009) 177 
Cal.App.4th 305, 313 [citing Strumsky v. San Diego County Employees Retirement Assn. (1974) 
11 Cal.3d 28, 32].) 

Where the proper standard of review is in issue, the."ultimate question in each case is whether 
the affected right is deemed to be of sufficient significance to preclude its extinction or 
abridgement by a body lacking judicial power." (Wences v. City of Los Angeles, Eupra, 177 
Cal.App.4th at 313 [citing Interstate Brands v. Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd. (1980) 26 Cal.3d 
770, 780].) 
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Petitioner contends the court should define his right impacted by College's discipline here 
broadly. The disciplinary decision, according to Petitioner, affects every aspect of his services as 
a professor at College. Petitioner urges the focus is not on the extent of harm but the nature of 
the right implicated. (See Wences v. City of Los Angeles, supra, 177 Cal.App.4th at 316.) 
According to Petitioner, the discipline imposed by College affected his fundamental vested right 
in his employment. Petitioner suggests College's decision subjects him to stigma as having 
retaliated against a colleague based on race and raises questions about particular subjects he 
may teach within College's English Department. 

College argues the discipline impacted a right significantly more narrow than that alleged by 
Petitioner. College asserts it imposed ordinary discipline on Petitioner, and no evidence 
suggests his ability to purse his profession is implicated or that the discipline imposed will 
impact his promotability or career advancement at College. College also argu_es the discipline 
imposed had no financial impact on him. College reports Petitioner was never subject to 
termination, a process with "formal procedures, including a hearing .... " (Respondent's 
Further Briefing 3:24.) In fact, Petitioner "was promoted to full Professor [in 20211 during this 
litigation." (Opening Brief 5:3-4.) 

Wences v. City of Los Angeles, supra, 177 Cal.App.4th at 314 addressed "whether a different 
standard of judicial review should apply in an administrative mandamus proceeding where the 
challenged discipline is solely a reprimand as opposed to a more severe penalty." Wences v. 

City of Los Angeles considered the issue in the context of public employment. (Ibid. ["public 
employee"].) In fact, the authorities relied upon by Wences v. City of Los Angeles all concerned 
public employees. (Id. at 316. See Melkonians v. Los Angeles Civil Service Com. (2009) 174 
Cal.App.4th 1159, 1167 ["public employees"], Jackson v. City of Los Angeles (2003) 111 
Cal.App.4th 899, 903 ["city employees"], Schmitt v. City of Rialto (1985} 164 Cal.App.3d 494, 
500 ["city employment"], Estes v. City of Grover City (1978) 82 Cal.App.3d 509, 514 ["right in 
public employment"].) Thus, it is not clear Wences v. City of Los Angeles applies outside of the 
public employment context with discipline (like that here) imposed by private employers. 

In Wences v. City of Los Angeles, supra, 177 Cal.App.4th at 316, the court advised the 
appropriate standard of judicial review for administrative disciplinary decisions did not turn on 
economic impact alone. The impact on the employee must also be considered in human terms. 
(Ibid.) 

Wences v. City of Los Angeles, supra, 177 Cal.App.4th at 305 concerned a peace officer who had 
been disciplined with a formal reprimand. The Court of Appeal explained the impact in human 
terms on the officers right to employment: 

"The Department's official reprimand, based on a finding of administrative 
disapproval by the Board of Police Commissioners, is a part of Wences's 
employment record as a police officer. The reprimand may be considered by the 
Department in future personnel and disciplinary decisions, and based on its 
content, may adversely affect Wences's future opportunities for career 
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advancement. It therefore implicates a right that is important to Wences in his life 
situation even in the absence of an immediate economic impact." (Id. at 305.) 

The discipline imposed on Petitioner by College did not have any economic impact upon him. 
The discipline required Petitioner to participate in certain training and removed him from his 
position as Chair of the English Department. The discipline imposed precludes Petitioner from 
acting as a chair of any department at College until 2030. 

Petitioner reports he has indefinite tenure with College. (Petitioner's Further Brief 6:23.) 
According to Petitioner, "[t]he appointment fpr.indefinite tenure provides that 'a continuation 
of the appointment will not require reappointment, and the appointment may be terminated 
only by following the procedures set forth in the.By-Laws of College and the Faculty 
Handbook.' " (Petitioner's Further Brief 6:25-28.)10 

The court finds on these facts substantial evidence review is appropriate here. College is a 
private employer. Petitioner did not suffer discharge, and Petitioner's rights in his ongoing 
employment are protected through the tenure system. There is no dispute Petitioner suffered 
no economic impact from the discipline. While the discipline impacted Petitioner in human 
terms-stigma, course subject matter issues, loss of chair status-the impact is not "of 
sufficient significance" such that its abridgement should be precluded by "a body lacking 
judicial power." (Wences v. City of Los Angeles, supra, 177 Cal.App.4th at 313.) In fact, the 
significance of the impact on Petitioner's rights is belied by his promotion "to full Professor [in 
2021] during this litigation" after the discipline had been imposed. (Opening Brief 5:3-4.) 

On substantial evidence review, "the trial c~_urt will affirm the administrative decision if it is 
supported by substantial evidence from a review of the entire record, resolving all reasonable 
doubts in favor of the findings and decision." (M.N. v. Morgan Hill Unified School Dist. (2018) 20 
Cal.App.5th 607, 616.) The court must "accept·all evidence which supports the successful party, 
disregard the contrary evidence, and draw all reasonable inferences to uphold the 
[administrative decision]. [Citation.] Credibility is an issue of fact for the finder of fact to resolve 
[citation], and the testimony of a single witness, even that of a party, is sufficient to provide 
substantial evidence to support a finding of fact: [Citation.]" (Doe v. Regents of the University of· 
California [UCSD] (2916) 5 Cal.App._Sth 1055, 1074.) 

Under this "deferential11 standard of review, the court presumes the correctness ofthe 
administrative ruling. (Patterson Flying Sentice v. California Dept. of Pesticide Regulation (2008) 
161 Cal.App.4th 411, 419; see also Doe v. Regents of the University of California, supra, 5 
Cal.App.5th at 1073 [substantial evidence standard is "extremely deferential standard of 
review"].) 

Ill 

1° College's objection to .the Hathaway declaration and evidence it introduces is overruled. 
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Finally, the fairness of an administrative proceeding is reviewed as a question of law under the 
independent judgment standard. (Doe v. · Westmont College (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 622, 634.) 

.'\A ageAey is alse 13res1:1FReEI ts l=lave reg1:1larly 13er:f:erFReEI its effieial Ell::lties. (~\·iEI. CeEle § €i€i4.) 
"IA exereisiAg its iAEle13eAEleAt jl::IElgFReAt, a trial ee1:1rt FR1:1st a#erEI a streAg 13resl::IFRf)tieA sf 
eerreetAess eeAeerAiAg tl=le aEIFRiAistrative fiAEliAgs, at:la tl=le 13arty el=lalleAgiAg tl=le aEIFRiAistrative 
EleeisieA sears tl=le l:n.1raeA sf eeRviAEiRg tl=le ee1:1rt tl=lat tl=le aaFRiAistrative fiAsiAgs are eeRtrary 
ts the weight sf tl=le eviEleAee." (.'41.'<1:1fla ·;. City efARge/.s, Sl:JfJ.r:a, 20 Cal. 4th at 817.) 

UAEler Ceae sf Civil Preeeeh,1re seetieR 1Q94.S, PetitieAer FR1:1st EleFReAstrate, sy dtatieR ts the 
aEIFRiAistrative reeerEI, tt:iat tl=le weigl=lt sf tl=le eviEleAee s1:11313erts l=lis 13esitieA. (See StFl:lfflslcy v. 
SaR Diege Ce1:1Rty f.FRp.'-eyees RetiFeffleRtAssR. (1974) 11 Cal.3EI 28, 32; B.iJfBY v. PieFRB, s1:1pm, 4 
Cal. 3a at lH.) Tt:1e ee1:1rt is Ret reEl1:1ireEI ts seareh tt:le reeerEI ts aseertaiA wl=lether it s1:11313erts a 
13etitieAer's eeRteAtieAs, Rer FRal~e tl=le 13arties' arg1:1FReAts fer tJ:ieFR. (See .'Rye C-itireRs Jar Better 
P.laRRiRg •'· !Rye Ce1:1Rty Beard efSl:Jf)eFvisers (2QQ9} 18Q Cal.A1313.4tl=i 1, 14.) 

ANALYSIS 

Petitioner advances two arguments in support of his petition. First, Petitioner argues College's 
findings and resulting discipline must be set aside as College failed to provide Petitioner with a 
fair administrative hearing. (Code Civ. Proc. § 1094.5, subd. (b) ["fair trial"].) Second, Petitioner 
argues College's findings (and discipline flowing therefrom) must be set aside because the 
findings are not supported by the weight of the evidence. 

Whether College Provided Petitioner a Fair Trial 

Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.5, subdivision (b) provides a writ of mandate may issue 
where the administrative agency made a decision without a "fair trial." (Code Civ. Proc. 
§ 1094.5, subd. (b).) "'The statute's requirement of a 'fair trial' means that there must have 
been a 'fair administrative hearing.' [Citation.]" (Doe v. University of Southern California (2016) 
246 Cal.App.4th 221, 239.) "Generally, a fair procedure requires 'notice reasonably calculated 
to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action ... and an opportunity to present 
their objections.' [Citation.]" (Id. at p. 240; see also Rosenblit v. Superior Court (1991) 231 
Cal.App.3d 1434, 1445. ["Notice of the charges sufficient to provide a reasonable opportunity 
to respond is basic to the constitutional right to due process and the common law right to a fair 
procedure."]) 

f-.l "Fair hearing requirements are 'flexible' and entail no 'rigid procedure.' " (Doe v. Allee (2019} 
r~.) 

30 Cal.App.5th 1036, 1062. Disciplinary hearings "need not include all the safeguards and 
formalities of a criminal trial." (Doe v. Regents of University of California (2016) 5 Cal.App.5th 
1055, 1078.) " '[T]o comport with due process,' the university's procedures should ' "be 
tailored, in light of the decision to be made, to 'the capacities and circumstances of those who 
are to be heard,' [citation] ... to insure that they are given a meaningful opportunity to present 
their case." ' " (Ibid.) 
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... 
Petitioner argues College denied him a fair administrative proceeding for three reasons. First, 
Petitioner argues College did not provide him with adequate notice because th~ email College 
sent to Petitioner on December 4, 2019 did not apprise Petitioner of the factual basis for the 
complaints of Thomas or Tomkins. (Opening Brief 15:8-19.) Second, Petitioner argues College 
did not provide him with the evidence proffered against him until after Investigator Reddock­
Wright and College made the findings. (Opening Brief 15:21-16:10.) Finally, Petitioner argues 
Investigator Reddock-Wright did not constitute an· impartial decisionmaker. (Id. at p. 16:12-21.) 

Fair Hearing: Notice 

The College notified Petitioner of the investigation on December 4, 2019 throug1 a lengthy 
email. (AR 2780-2781.) The email provided, in addition to other information, the following: 

"On Monday December 2nd, after the initial interviews conducted by assigned 
external investigator Angela Reddock-Wright, I received notice t,at two 
complainants had brought allegations that involved gender bias/harassment as 
well as race discrimination/harassment concerns. Specifically, reports received 
from Pomona College faculty members Valorie Thomas and Kyla Tompkins allege 
the following prohibited behaviors: 

• Environmental/hostile environment harassment {sex/gender and race based). 
Environmental/hostile environment is defined in the Policy as where an i1dividual 
is subjected to a hostile or intimidating environment, in which verbal on physical 
conduct, because of its severity and/or persistence, is likely to interfere with an 
individual's work or education, or to affect adversely an individucl's living 
conditions. 

• Sex/gender and race-based discrimination, defined in the Policy where 5omeone 
is treated unfavorably because of that person's sex/gender or race. 

• Retaliation, defined as the taking of an adverse action by any student, faculty or 
staff member against another individual as a result of that individual's exercise of 
a right under this Policy, including participation in reporting, investigation or 
hearing as provided in this Policy. 

• Complainant Thomas alleges behaviors that include bullying, shamirg, public 
reprimand, unequal access to funding and departmental resources, interrogation 
and positioning the complainant as a 'thief or con-artist or stereotypical welfare 
queen looking for handouts.' The complainant describes the severity and 
persistence of the alleged behavior as harmful, stressful, traumatic and as having 
a negative impact and adverse affect on her work and living conditions. 

• Complainant Tompkins alleges behaviors that include exclusion from 
departmental resources, bullying, retaliation, harassment, an inability to discuss 
race/gender/culture in departmental meetings, using process to prevert her and 
complainant Thomas from speaking out or ·making requests, and not providing 
complainant Thomas with requested funding. Complainant Tompkins describes 
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the severity and persistence of the' alleged behavior as materially harmfJI, toxic, 
and discriminatory with adverse affects [sic] for students and faculty of color, and 
women." (AR 2780-2781.) 

Thus, while College's email does not provide. all of the specific factual allegation~ underlying the 
complaints against Petitioner, the ~mail advis~d .Petitioner of the general nature of the charges. 
The email advised Thomas believed, ar,:tong.ot_her things, she had been denied e::iual access to 
department funding and resources, had beer:i_ treated like a thief and had been bullied by 
Petitioner. The email explained Thomas alleged P.~~itioner retaliated against her pursuant to 
her "exercise of a right under this Policy, inclu_ding participation in reporting, inv:!stigation or 
hearing as provided in" College's discrimination and harassment policies with a hyperlink to the 
relevant policies. (AR 2780-2781.) 

The underlying allegations involved Petitioner and his interactions with Thomas 3nd/or 
Tompkins. The email identified Thomas and Tompkins as the complaining parties. The email 
generally identified the issues and sufficiently apprised Petitioner of the nature of his alleged 
violations of policy. 

Moreover, to the extent Petitioner contends he had no "reasonable or meaningful opportunity 
to respond to the charges and present a full defense," Petitioner had three different interviews 
with Investigator Reddock-Wright. (Opening Brief 15:18-19. AR 518.) The investigator's report 
undermines Petitioner's claim he had no meaningful opportunity to provide a complete 
defense. (AR 532-538 [Petitioner's response (denials and explanations) to allegations].) The 
investigator noted Petitioner provided her with "documents and information as part of his 
response" to the "allegations against him." (AR 671 n. 20.)11 Petitioner submitted a substantial 
number of documents (147) to the investigator for cpnsideration. (AR 671 n. 20~) 

The court finds College sufficiently provided notice of the allegations against Petitioner when 
College began its investigation. While the December 4, 2019 email did not provde all of the 
specific factual information about the claims against him, the email provided Petitioner with 
sufficient information (given his own knowledge of his interactions with Thoma5 and Tompkins) 
to allow him to reasonably respond to the allegations. 

Fair Hearing: Access to the Evidence 
..... 

t;D 
~ College's policy related to gender-based discrimination and/or harassment claims involving 
.-.._. 

r.....). faculty does not provide for a hearing. The policy specifies: "For faculty, staff and third-party 
r.:Zl 
r....i respondents, the Title IX Coordinator will refer cases to investigation, '.and, where appropriate, 
r._, 

11 The report states: "During the investigation, [Petitioner] provided me with documents and 
information as apart of his response to Thomas' and Tompkins' allegations against him. 
Throughout the report, I reference and identify as exhibits the documents I believe to be 
relevant to the scope of the investigation. The documents [Petitioner] provided as part of the 
investigation are attached hereto as [list of 147 exhibits]." (AR 671-672.) 
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forward the case for a determination ofsand.ions/further proceedings as set forth in this 
Policy." (AR 31.} The policy contemplates faculty may "appeal the decision and/or sanctions 
made pursuant to [the] Policy." (AR 40.) The policy does not contemplate any ability to review a 
compilation of the evidence gathered prior to a finding the faculty member has violated 
College's policies. 

College complied with its policy when it referred the complaints to an investigator. In fact, 
Petitioner does not assert College somehow failed to comply with its own rules concerning 
investigations of complaints. Petitioner asserts, however, fair hearing principles require College 
to allow Petitioner to review evidence compiled against him to rebut claims made. 

Petitioner argues College deprived him of access to evidence it used to discipline him. (Opening 
Brief 15:20-16:10.) He contends he should have been given access to the names of witnesses 
and their statements. (Opening Brief 15:24-25.) Petitioner argues the first opportunity he had 
to respond to the evidence was in his mitigation statement after College made its decision he 
should be disciplined. (Opening Brief 16:8-9.) 

Petitioner relies upon student misconduct cases as support for his claim. The court is not 
convinced student misconduct cases-and the requirements necessary for a fair hearing in that 
context-inform on and apply to faculty disciplinary proceedings. Doe v. University of Southern 
California (2016) 246 Cal.App.4th 221 and Doe v. Westmont College (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 622 
are inapposite. In fact, consistent with the law, College has an entirely different disciplinary 
system established for student misconduct cases. (AR 31.) 

"Fair hearing requirements are flexible and entail no rigid procedure." (Alpha Nu Assn. of Theta 
Xiv. University of Southern California, supra, 62 Cal.App.5th at 418 [cleaned up].) "To comport 
with due process, the university's procedures should be tailored, in light of the decision to be 
made, to the capacities and circumstances of those who are to be heard, to insure that they are 
given a meaningful opportunity to present their case." {Id. at 419 [cleaned up].) "The minimum 
requirements are described in varying ways and may depend upon the.action contemplated by 
the organization and the effect of that action in the individual." (Hackethal v. California Medical 
Association (1982) 138 Cal.App.3d 435, 442.)12 

College's investigator interv!ewed Petitioner on three different occasions for nine hours. (AR 
671, 2419.) All three of Petitioner's interviews occurred after Thomas' single interview. (AR 

12 The reference in Hackethal v. California Medical Association, supra, 138 Cal.App.3d 435 at 442 
to a requirement of "an opportunity to confront and cross-examine the accusers and to 
examine and refute the evidence" (as stated in Cason v. Glass Bottle Blowers Assn. (1951) 37 
Cal.2d 134, 144) is inconsistent with recent authorities concerning administrative proceedings. 
(See, e.g., Alpha Nu Assn. of Theta Xiv. University of Southern California, supra, 62 Cal.App.5th 
at 421 ["common law right to a fair hearing typically does not require cross-examination"].) 
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671.) The investigator conducted only one other interview after the date of Petitioner's final 
interview.13 

During his nine hours of interviews, Petitioner provided the investigator with 147 exhibits to 
support his statements to her. The investigator's report reflects a detailed overview of the 
allegations and Petitioner's response to those allegations. The investigator's rep-ort sets forth 
each allegation and Petitioner's response to the claims. (See, e.g., AR 738 [response to 
allegations], 741 [deliberation process and requests for funding with subcategories].)14 Thus, 
while the investigation was ongoing, Petitioner had ample opportunity to respond to the 
specific allegations made against him. 

Fair Hearing: Bias 

Without question, a fair trial requires a neutral adjudicator. ''The standard of impartiality 
required at an administrative hearing is less exacting than that required in a judicial proceeding. 
[Citation.]" (Gai v. City of Selma (1998) 68 Cal.App.4th 213, 219-220.) "[A] party seeking to show 
bias or prejudice on the part of an administrative decision maker [must] prove the same with 
concrete facts: '"Bias and prejudice are never implied and must be established by clear 
averments." [Citation.]'" (Id. at 220.) In the administrative hearing context, in situations where 
there is an absence of evidence of financial or personal interest, a petitioner seeking "to prevail 
on a claim of bias violating fair hearing requirements ... must establish 'an unacceptable 
probability of actual bias on the part of those who have actual decision making power over their 
claims," "with concrete facts." (Nasha v. City of Los Angeles (2004) 125 Cal.App.4th 470, 483.) 

To meet his burden of demonstrating bias, Petitioner argues College "provided no evidence to 
suggest that any of its adjudicators were fair or impartial." (Opening Brief 16:lS.-16.) Petitioner 
asserts: "A review of the investigation report show the investigator was far from impartial and 
her findings so vague and utterly lacking in evidentiary support, [College] needed to amend 
them." (Opening Brief 16:16-18 [citing AR 517].) Petitioner also takes issue with the 
investigator's credibility findings and failure to conduct certain forensic evaluation. (Reply 
10:16-21.) 

13 The investigator had a second interview with Tompkins on the day after Petitioner's final 
interview. (AR 671.) College did not sustain any allegations concerning Tompkins. 
14 Petitioner's mitigation statement identified only two items he believed were inaccurate in the 
investigator's report. First, he took issue with the investigator characterizing Thomas' attempt 
to get the $300 for zines as an "extensive process." IAR 2411.) That Petitioner believed the 
characterization inaccurate (a conclusion) does not suggest the facts disclosed in the 
investigation report are incorrect. Second, Petitioner noted the investigator "misunderstood" 
what he said about Thomas' course proposal on Ellison. (AR 2419.) Petitioner indicated he did 
not know the proposal "was part of the investigation" but acknowledged he and the 
investigator discussed the issue, albeit briefly. (AR 2419.) 
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Petitioner appears to be relying in part BriJh~ f6Uowing.fo!_?tnote made by College in its 
Statement of Policy Violations to support his bias claim: "On page 53 of Addendum B, 
Investigator Reddock states that she cori1pleted her investigation and submission [sic] her 
report on February 20, 2020. Thereafter, Reddock was asked to provide further detail and 
clarification of her findings, and to appiy those findings to College policy. Reddock submitted 
her final report to the College on March 17, 2020." (AR 517 n. 3.) 

Preliminarily, the court notes pursuant to its policies, the College "may refer back to the 
Investigators any questions that the Title IX Coordinator has concerning the report's contents or 
conclusions." (AR 21.) Thus, a request for clarification and information from the investigator is 
contemplated in the proces~. 

The court finds Petitioner has failed to meet his burden of demonstrating bias. Petitioner's 
arguments are not evidence-nor do they rise to the level of reasonable inference. Accordingly, 
Petitioner has not demonstrated" 'an unacceptable probability of actual bias on the part of 
those who have actual decision making power over their claims," "with concrete facts." (Nasha 
v. City of Los Angeles, supra, 125 Cal.App.4th at 483.) 

Based on the foregoing, the court finds College provided Petitioner with a "fair" administrative 
hearing. The court rejects Petitioner's fair hearing claims based on notice, access to evidence 
and bias. 

College's Findings and the Weight of the Substantial Evidence15 

College made several findings based on the evidence before it. College rejected the 
investigator's findings of gender bias. College also rejected any claims related to Tompkins. (AR 
521.) College found: 

• First Finding: As to funding rules, Petitioner's "implementation of the rules was 
inconsistent and unnecessarily burdensome, and the .incon~istencies and manner 
of implementation are found to have targeted and-singled out Complainant 
Thomas; further there is no legitimate.· business reason supporting these 
inconsistencies and the challenges [Petitioner] posed to Thomas' various requests, 
and the College adopts the investigator's finding that [Petitioner's] actions were 
in retaliation for Thomas' protected assertions. of racial discrimination." (AR 521 
[emphasis added].) 

• Second Finding: Petition~r exhibited retaliatory intent in his "sustained effort to 
thwart Thomas' efforts to teach her proposed course in favor of his own proposal, 
motivated at least in part by Thomas' prior and sustained complaints regarding 

15 As noted, the court finds the proper standard of judicial review here is substantial evidence, 
not the weight of the evidence as argued by Petitioner. 

Page 20 of 33 



her sincerely held concerns over the. rae:e issues associated with his proposal and 
more generally within the Departm~nt!' (AR 523.) 

College's First Finding sounds in retaliation. College found Petitioner's actions related to 
funding requests made by Thomas demonstra~e he re.taliated against Thomas based on 
Thomas' assertions of racial discrimination.16 

Petitioner contends the investigator's findings on the issue of retaliation "are nc-t supported by 
the evidence or are downright false." (Opening. Brief 18:27.) Petitioner contend!: there is no 
evidence that his acts were in retaliation for Thomas' protected assertions of racial 
discrimination. Specifically, Petitioner contends that there is no evidence to support a finding 
that Thomas made any protected remarks or reports which Petitioner was aware of for which 
he would have retaliated. 

The parties have identified a single sentence in College's non-discrimination policies addressing 
retaliation: "The College will not retaliate, nor will it tolerate retaliation, against individuals who 
complain in good faith about harassment on the campus or in the workplace." (.~R 853.) Unlike 
College's description of harassment, College's policy does not otherwise define retaliation. (See 
AR 852 [elements of harassment].) "[T]he appearance of an action being retalia:ory, without 
more, [however,] is insufficient to support a finding of retaliation under College· policy." (AR 
523.) 

The ordinary definition of retaliation is "[t)he act of doing someone harm in return for actual or 
perceived injuries or wrongs; an instance of reprisal, requital, or revenge." (Blac.k's Law 
Dictionary, 11th ed. (2019) [emphasis added].) Thus, in the context here, there must be a causal 
link between the protected activity (Thomas' complaint of racial discrimination: and Petitioner's 
action (Petitioner's funding decisions). (Cf. Yanowitz v. L'Oreal USA, Inc. (2005) 36 Cal.4th 1028, 
1042.) College appears to recognize the necessity of a causal relationship. (AR 522 ["evidence 
supports a finding of the race-retaliation nexus"].) 

Preliminarily, the court notes the investigator (and College) found Petitioner's intentions and 
motives for "proposing and implementing Robert's Rules and other.budgeting and 
administrative processes, such as the deliberation and reimbursement processes, did not 
violate [College's] Policy." (AR 816, 521.) The department's adoption of a "loose" version of 
Robert's Rules of Order resulted from a "unanimous" vote of the department 01 September 11, 
2018-Petitioner did not "implement" the rules.17 {AR 1255, 817.) The department also 

10 It appears Thomas first complained to other faculty she was being treated differently on May 
22, 2019. (AR 1858.) The conflict over the zines funding occurred prior to Thon- as' complaint to 
faculty. Thomas did not file a formal complaint with College until about four mJnths later on 
October 3, 2019. (AR 652.) 
11 To be sure, Petitioner proposed the department adopt the rules. "{H]e did so with the intent 
and goal of creating more order and transparency in how budget, funding and other 
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unanimously voted to institute the fundi.ng rules-Petitioner would decide funding requests of 
$1,000 or less with the department deciding by majority vote requests exceeding $1,000. (AR 
1255.) In addition, the department agreed a faculty member could not make mu tiple requests 
for the same project or purpose ("hot-dog slicing"). (AR 1255.) Thus, that Petitior:aer caused 
funding rules to be adopted did not evidence any misconduct. The funding policv, as adopted, 
was fair and legitimate. (AR 573.) "'· 

. . ... 
'l''· . 

Further, there is credible18 evidence Petitioner "implemented new rules about bJdget so that 

he could avoid making decisions." (AR 810.) Gray believed Petitioner could avoid being blamed 
for any decisions made by requiring the department to follow the rules-he hid °Jehind them. 
(AR 810.) In fact, Gray believed Petitioner instituted the rules "to make life more manageable" 
"because he did not have to make decisions based on his own discretion." (AR 810.} 

Many faculty members described Petitioner as "inflexible" in his approach to funding. The 
investigator spoke to seven faculty members other than Thomas or Tompkins during her 
investigation. (AR 672-673.) According to the investigator, "[m]any faculty members stated 
that, while they appreciated [Petitioner's] reasons for wanting to create more transparency in 
the Department, that at times, they were disappointed that he was so inflexible in his 
approach, particularly since money and the ability to fund projects was not an issue for the 
Department." (AR 573.) 

There is also credible19 evidence Thomas "does not follow rules." (AR 808.)· Thomas did not 
have issues with "prior Department chairs because there were not rules set, but it [was] 
difficult under [Petitioner] because he managed based on rules." (AR 808.} 

Whether the weight of the substantial evidence supports College's First Finding is made more 
complicated by the text of the investigator's report and the College's partial adoption of it. The 
investigator lumped her consideration of gender and race together in a single discussion. (See, 
e.g., AR 818.) College, however, expressly rejected the investigator's findings Petitioner was 
motivated by gender bias. (AR 522.) Given the investigator's discussion does not parse gender 
and race bias, the supporting rationale for a single finding of retaliation becomes significantly 
clouded. 

The investigator (and College) relied on two incidents to support retaliation in the First Finding: 
Thomas' $300 funding request for zines and her $2,400 request for the lnnerlight Method 
course. (AR 521.) The investigator concluded: "Although there were established rules, 
[Petitioner] made it unreasonably difficult for Thomas to receive basic funds, and at times, was 

administrative decisions and requests are made and determined within the Department." (AR 
817.) 
18 The court has eliminated its finding of credibility to comport with substantial evidence review. 
That the court has stricken the word should not be read to imply the court did not find the 
evidence credible. 
19 See footnote 18, supra. 

Page 22 of 33 



inconsistent in how he treated Thomas''fun.ding ·requests compared to those of her non-Black 
male and female colleagues." (AR 818.) · 

$300 Zines Funding 

The investigator focused on four aspects of the $300 zines funding to support her First Finding 
as adopted by College-(1) Professor Kirk's WIG grant funding; (2) Professor Raff's funding; 
(3) Petitioner's hot-dog slicing funding rationale with.Thomas; and (4) a $15,000start up 
package for a newly hired faculty member. These four instances, according to the investigator 
and College, demonstrate Petitioner's disparate treatment of Thomas and his apparent 
retaliation. 

First, the investigator found Petitioner's proffered example of treating Kirk and Thomas 
similarly as to WIG grant funding not comparable. (AR 575.) Kirk (a "white, male colleague") 
applied for WIG grant funding in advance of obtaining money from the Departrrent. (AR 575, 
2321.) Kirk obtained his WIG grant funding and thereafter sought funding from :he Department 
for the balance needed for his field trip. (AR 2321.) As the balance Kirk sought was $1,000, Kirk 
sought approval of the $1,000 fund request consistent with the department's adopted rules 
that the department decide the funding request together. (AR 2321. ["I will make a request of 
the department at our next meeting, then, if that makes sense."]) 

Thomas initially brought up the WIG grant on February 1, 2019 and advised Pet tioner she 
would "be applying for WIG funds to cover" the $300 need for the zines-Petiti:mer did not 
require Thomas to apply for the funds. (AR 1418.) Ten days later, Thomas again indicated to 
Petitioner she intended to apply for a WIG grant. (AR 1418.) The following day, February 12, 
2019, Petitioner suggested his opportunity funds be used for the zines with reimbursement to 
him if Thomas obtained the WIG grant.20 (AR 1418.) Petitioner did not volunteer department 
funds to cover the $300 funding request which he had the authority to approve. The record is 
unclear on the decision of any WIG grant application submitted by Thomas to College. (AR 663.) 

Thomas ultimately confronted Petitioner and argued she was not required to a:tempt to obtain 
WIG grant funding in advance of asking the Department for money. Petitioner explained to 
Thomas, however, it was she who originally suggested she try to obtain the grant. (AR 1828.) 
Petitioner believed Thomas should pursue the plan she "originally proposed," end he "originally 
approved." (AR 1828.) 

While Kirk's situation may not have been identical to that of Thomas, Petitioner provided an 
example of a professor creating a plan to obtain WIG funding, following throu{;fl on that plan 
and then asking the Department for additional funding inconsistent with the department's 

20 Petitioner advised the investigator he believed it was "politically helpful for t1e Department 
to continue to seek" WIG grants "in order to stay competitive with other departments." (AR 
741.) There appears to be no evidence in the administrative record to contradict Petitioner's 
statement. 
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rules. While Petitioner's position with Thomas may have displayed unnecessary rigidity for a 
minimal amount of funding by a faculty member who reportedly had difficulty with rules, there 
is no evidence suggesting Petitioner acted in a manner designed to retaliate against Thomas. 
The conflict does not demonstrate retaliation. In fact, Petitioner advised Thomas she would 
obtain the funds for the zines by some manner.21 

Thus, there was never any question Thomas would receive her requested $300 for zines, and 
she did receive such funds. (AR 1418, 1829.f Petitioner initially advised Thomas '·we can find 
$300 to pay for the zines." (AR 1418.) Even when Thomas requested the $300 from the 
department, Thomas indicated she still intended to apply for the WIG grant and i111ould 
reimburse the department. (AR 1418.) Voluntarily applying for WIG grant mane\' in the first 
instance appears consistent with actions taken by at least one other faculty member. (AR 2321 
[Kirk].} 

The investigator, apparently giving no consideration to faculty members' charac1erization of 
Petitioner as unnecessarily rigid, found Petitioner not credible when he explainej he wanted 
Thomas to be accountable for her initial suggestion that she would seek a WIG grant for the 
zines. (AR 818.) The investigator discounted Petitioner's position because "[b]y t-is own 
admission, [Petitioner] stated that there was no particular rule about what funding source a 
faculty member's funding request should come from." (AR 818.) The investigator also found 
Petitioner's explanation "insufficient" for why he suggested Thomas " 'borrow' "his 
opportunity funds "especially" since the department had funds of $1 million available and the 
department "never spends up to its annual budget for the fund." (AR 818.) 

The investigator discounted evidence of other faculty members applying for WIG grants for 
funding because the evidence (emails) were "not persuasive on their own." (AR 819.) The 
investigator reported the evidence did not establish "whether these faculty members 
personally chose to use WIG grants or were told to apply for WIG grants." (AR 819.) The 
evidence establishes, however, department faculty turned to WIG grants for funding which is 
consistent with Petitioner's view obtaining such grants aided the department politically. The 
investigator's comment also implies Petitioner required Thomas to apply for a WIG grant when 
it was Thomas who initially indicated to Petitioner her funding path. (AR 1418.) 

Similarly, in discounting the evidence of Kirk's request for funding as consistent with Thomas' 
experience, the investigator contrasts Kirk~s request for a WIG grant as voluntary with 
Petitioner requiring Thomas to apply for a WIG grant. (AR 819. ["In Thomas' situation, unlike 
Kirk, she is directly asking to forego the WIG grant process completely."]} Thomas, however, 
indicated she intended to apply for a WIG grant; she only asked to forego applying for the grant 
after Petitioner told her he believed the department could "find $300 to pay for the zines." (AR 
1418.) 

21 It appears Petitioner believed a loan from his opportunity funds could be reimJursed with 
WIG grant funding obtained by Thomas. Thus, Thomas could continue to pursue.the WIG grant 
funding, obtain the zines, and then reimburse Petitioner. 
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It is not entirely clear from the investigator's report (and College's adoption of i( whether she 
viewed the controversy concerning the zines funding as gender or race based, or both. The 
investigator noted the "incident may seem menial when viewed by itself," but she found the 
process "extensive" "amount[ing] to conduct against Thomas in violation of the Policy." (AR 820 
[gender and/or race policy not specified].) While the investigator did not specify the provision 
of the policy, she noted: "At a minimum, the process [Petitioner] put Thomas through was 
degrading and belittling for a woman of her background, experience and contribJtions to the 
college." (AR 820.) The investigator did conclude, however, Petitioner's "requirement that she 
borrow $300 from him directly, instead of granting her access to the wealthy department 
budget, had the overall, adverse impact of targeting and singling Thomas out because of her 
race and gender." (AR 819-820.) 

Tl=ie weigl=it of tl=ie Substantial evidence does not support the investigator's conclJsion 
Petitioner retaliated against Thomas based on her claims of racial discrimination in the context 
of the zines funding dispute. Certainly, there was an unnecessary conflict between Petitioner 
and Thomas over minimal funding. There is no specification, however, of a causal link between 
Thomas' claims of racial discrimination and Petitioner's actions. While Petitioner may have 
been excessively and unnecessarily rigid and Thomas too lax, College has not identified direct or 
circumstantial evidence to support a finding Petitioner exercised his rigidity or singled Thomas 
out because of Thomas' complaint of racial discrimination. Tl=ie 1.veigl=lt of ti=le Substantial 
evidence does not support the investigator's (and College's) finding Petitioner singled Thomas 
out because of her race. 

As to the second reason to support a finding of retaliation by Petitioner against Thomas made 
in the First Finding as to the $300 zines funding, the investigator erred in her assessment of the 
evidence as to funding used by Raff; the finding is not supported by and contrary to the 
evidence. The investigator found Petitioner granted "Raff $1,000 for a speaker honorarium 
without requiring a Department meeting, even though the request is '$1,000 or more.' " (AR 
819.) Tl=ie weigi=lt of ti=le Substantial evidence, however, does not support such a finding. The 
department "voted to commit $2,000" to an event involving a speaker. (AR 2331.) Raff wrote to 
Petitioner to ask the appropriate amount of honorarium for the speaker from the $2,000 
allowed by the department. (AR 2332.) Pe~itioner agreed with Raff's suggestion of $1,000 from 
the $2,000. (AR 2332 ["there will be enough in the $_2000-minus-horonarium"].) Contrary to the 
investigator's understanding, Petitioner did not approve a $1,000 funding request from Raff. 

The investigator did properly discounted Petitioner's explanation that Thomas' request for $300 
constituted "hot-dog slicing." (AR 742.) Thomas sought only one source for the S300. She did 
not pursue multiple funding sources to avoid obtaining department approval of a $1,000 or 
more expense. Given the circumstances, Petitioner's claim Thomas' request constituted "hot­
dog slicing" is unsupported and inconsistent with the department's view of multiple funding 
sources for a single request. Nonetheless, the issue relates to the conflict over z,nes funding. 
That Petitioner's "hot-dog slicing" rationale is unpersuasive does not inform on ·:he lack of 
evidence related to a finding of retaliation. The "hot-dog slicing" claim does not demonstrate 
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retaliation based on Thomas' assertion~.9f,-i'iaJi~Jdisc.rimiration .. lnstead, it appears to be an 
attempt to find further justification about.why·Petitioner believed Thomas should pursue the 
WIG grant funding as she had initially planned. 

Finally, the investigator noted "not long after [Petitfoner] negotiated with Thomas over $300 in 
[zine] costs, Thomas discovered that [Petitioner] unilaterally agreed that the Department would 
contribute $15,000 toward Sharma's start-up package." (AR 820.) The investigator found 
Petitioner's actions "to be straying from his own process to help a different colleague." (AR 
820.) The investigator reported, "Sharma is also a woman of color, but she is not African­
American like Thomas." (AR 820.) 

Sharma's start-up package and funding for it is distinct from ongoing funding needs for 
department faculty members. Sharma' start-up package was part of a negotiation to" 'clos[eJ 
the deal' for someone (College] very much want[ed] to hire." (AR 1644.) The evidence 
demonstrates Petitioner attempted to navigate within the department's funding rules when 
considering Sharma's start-up package. (AR 1646.) Petitioner also sought advice from the prior 
department chair to ensure Petitioner had the authority to negotiate the start-up package and 
was acting consistent with department rules. (AR 1644-1645.) While the evidence is related to 
funding, it appears irrelevant to whether Petitioner retaliated against Thomas based on 
Thomas' assertions of racial discrimination. The evidence does. not suggest Petitioner treated 
Thomas differently than Sharma because then;? never was an issue about start-up funding and 
Thomas. Further, there is no evidence the funding rules adopted by the department included 
start-up funding measures for recruiting faculty. 

$2,400 lnnerlight Method Course Funding 

The investigator (and College) also found evidence Petitioner retaliated against Thomas based 
on Petitioner's response and action related to Thomas' request for $2,400 to pay her tuition for 
the lnnerlight Method course. 

On May 9, 2019, the department met and discussed various budget issues for.the 2020 
academic year. Petitioner along with all other faculty present voted to commit $31,500 to 
Thomas from the budget:- $7,000-for an Afro.Futurisms course, $7,000 for a Healing Narratives 
program, $2,500 for travel expenses to a conference in Hawaii and $15,000 for an 
AfroFuturisms exhibition; (AR 1395-1396.) . 

The following week, on May 15, 2019, Thomas emailed Petitioner requesting he approve her 
request for funding of $2,400 to permit her to register for the lnnerlight Method course. (AR 
1830.) Petitioner correctly advised Thomas he did not have the authority under the 
department's rules to authorize "requests for $1,000 and above." (AR 1829.} Petitioner stated 
he could help Thomas by approving a smaller amount within his authority if it would be useful. 
(AR 1829.) 
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The discussion between Petitioner and Thomas:thereafter-became more conflict~d-not unlike . . . .~ •.. . . . 

the zines funding conflict. Thomas asked Petitioner to hold an emergency faculty meeting so 
she could obtain the funds; her tuition deadline was looming. Petitioner did not agree to 
conduct such a meeting but indicated "if people are willing to stick around after :he 
[department} reception tomorrow, I'll try to get a quorum together. We can't take a vote by 
email. Such a vote would be invalid according to the rules we adopted in September 2018." (AR 
1828.) 

Thomas did not appear the next day at the reception because she did not see Petitioner's email 
asking faculty members to meet. (AR 820, 1842.) Petitioner also did not allow T001pkins to act 
as Thomas' proxy at the meeting. (AR 1843.) Therefore, the Department did not vote on 
Thomas' $2,400 funding request. 

The investigator's report does not address the $2,400 funding request conflict in the context of 
retaliation. Instead, the investigator found Petitioner created an "unnecessarily hostile 
environment for Thomas .... " (AR 821.) The investigator also noted Petitioner violated "the 
College's foundation of respect and ... sense of community vital to the College's educational 
enterprise." (AR 821.) 

The investigator (and College) do not tie Petitioner's conflict with Thomas over funding for the 
lnnerlight Method course to retaliation. While Petitioner may again have been Lnnecessarily 
rigid and tied to the rules, there is no suggestion Petitioner acted in retaliation a.gainst Thomas 
based on Thomas' assertions of racial discrim_ination. In fact, nothing in the inve:;tigator's 
report-other than the conflict itself-suggests how Petitioner's acts were retaliatory against 
Thomas. 

In large part, the conflict concerning funding requests appears to have resulted from 
Petitioner's rigidity and "inflexible" approach to decision-making and Thomas' difficulty with 
rules. (AR 808.} In that context, Petitioner lacked awareness of how his decision5 might be 
perceived and "underappreciated the impact of his decisions." (AR 809.) That Petitioner is rigid 
and Thomas lax without more does not support a finding Petitioner acted in ret3liation against 
Thomas based on Thomas' assertions of racial discrimination. 

Based on the foregoing, the court finds the weigRt ef the substantial evidence coes not support 
College's First Finding based on retaliation. The weight sf the Substantial evidence does not 
support the finding Peti_tioner acte_d against Thomas based on Thomas' assertions of racial 
discrimination. Certainly, Petitioner was rigid and inflexible, and Petitioner and Thomas were 
conflicted. That, however, is not direct or circumstantial evidence of retaliation. 

College's Second Finding sounds in retaliation as well. College notes "the appearance of an 
action being retaliatory, without more, is insufficient to support a finding of ret3liation under 
College policy." (AR 523.) College found retaliatory intent in Petitioner's "sustained effort to 
thwart Thomas' efforts to teach her proposed course in favor of his own proposal, motivated at 
least in part by Thomas' prior anci sustained complaints regarding her sincerely held concerns 
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. . 
over the race issues associated with his propes-al and more gen~rally within the Department." 
(AR 523.) ·_, . ",,,-' _. · . . . . . 

The investigator found Petitioner's "prop?sal .~o.t~ach the Five American Author~ course is not 
based on any discriminatory or retaliatory .intent or.motive toward" Thomas or T::>mpkins. (AR 
580.) The investigator believed Petitioner's desire .to teach the course "appear[ed] retaliatory 
toward [Thomas and Tompkins] for their complaints and criticisms of his prior work and views, 
along with his management style." (AR 580 [emphasis added].) After reviewing a timeline of 
ads related to Petitioner's course the investigator concluded: 

"Based on the surrounding facts and a preponderance of the 
evidence, the only reasonable conclusion is that [Petitioner] 
pushed for his course propo:5al, in lieu of others, to prove a point 
to Thomas and Tompkins based on their prior and repeated 
complaints and criticisms against him." (AR 582.) 

The controversy concerning Petitioner's course began on October 3, 2019. At that time, 
Petitioner informed Thomas that the department needed a senior-level course for the Spring of 
2020 and asked if Thomas was interested in teaching a proposed course. (AR 825, 2004.) 
Petitioner informed Thomas that, in the event she was unavailable to teach a senior-level 
course, Petitioner would "probably have to do it." (AR 2004.) Petitioner specifically informed 
Thomas that his course "would be some version of the seminar [they] discussed in 2017-
American writers who defend literature ag,ainst sociological analysis (Ellison, MLrray, Arendt, 
Jacobs, Kubler)." (AR 2004.) Thomas initially advised Petitioner she would "get.back to" him. 
(AR 2004.) About six hours later, Thomas declined to teach the senior-level course.22 (AR 2003.} 
Thomas indicated she would be teaching two other courses. 

Petitioner responded about 30 minutes later to Thomas: "Thanks Val. In that case, I will teach 
the 170 seminar." (AR 2003.) 

Later that night, Thomas sent an email to Petitioner. (AR 2002.) Thomas copied all department 
faculty on the email and attached her prior communications with Petitioner about the senior­
level course. (AR 2022.) Thomas wrote: 

"I find these emajls about how you equate me teaching my planned 
spring courses with an endorsement of you teaching that Ellison 
course interesting. I think the conversation belongs in front of the 
department. 

My thought is this: not so fast with the fait accompli as if I just 
somehow endorsed your Ellison course. These are not yoked 

22There is no question, when asked, Thomas declined to teath a senior-level co.1rse. Seven 
other faculty members also declined to teach the course. (AR 2015.) 
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decisions except as you pgs~ t_l;l~m. I do 11ot el)dorse you teaching 
that Ellison course as yol) · ~ell k~ow, and neither does Kyla 
[Tompkins], the other act.u~I PhD-holding, committed, experienced 
Americanist in the department.. 

I remind you I found out about. your Ellison proposal only bv 
accident, after you and the department went around me as the 
African Americanist in English, to advance it, and around Kyla. I 
never endorsed it, and don't endor:-se it now. Kyla and I - as the two 
credentialed professionals i.1'1 t~e. field of American Literature and 
race, and as (apparently semi-legitimate) faculty members - have 
given the department all the reasons that course should not go 
forward. At one point under pressure of my approaching review, 
the chair's requests, and the corrosive racial climate in English fer 
which Kyla and I were being blamed after your Ellison proposal 
finally came to light, I did say in a moment of feeling forced into a 
corner that I would not continue to oppose you at that time. That 
grave error on my part while regrettable, was certainly not an 
endorsement of your proposal to teach Ellison, or of your framing 
of a major Black writer as a platform for directly invalidating my 
and Kyla 's PhDs, pedagogy, contributions to the curriculum, and 
the fields of American Literature, Africana Studies, African Diaspor,a 
Literature, African American Literature, Ethnic Studies, Critical Race 
Theory, lntersectionalitytheory, and Decolonial Studies that inform 
our methods. When I was asked earlier to fall back in discussions of 
your proposal and the epistemic violence embedded in it, that was 
me being pressured to sacrifice my professional integrity for the 
sake of preserving superficial civility in the department; but it was 
not me or Kyla being divisive. In any case that was then, this is now, 
so my answer - to the extent that you are running your Ellison 
course past me yet again - is still no. Had I been consulted on it in 
the first place I would have said no when you first proposed it but I 
was not informed that anything that obviously undermining and 
destructive was on the tabl.e. What you do with Ellison on your own 
time is of course your business and no concern of mine; but 
colonizing Ellison and African American literature through 
pedagogy is not your private playground and I do not support 
destructive dilettantism in my field. If you want to really vet the 
course (finally), let's vet the course." (AR 2002-2003.} 

Early the next morning, Tompkins responded to Thomas' email with a copy to ell faculty: 

"If the department allows this course to go forward, it is no1: a 
department that deserves to survive or thrive for the very rea~n 
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that the total lowering of professional standards in the delivery o= 
teaching to our students will h-~~e finally taken away our credibilit! 
as teachers, scholars and members of a profession. The class is 
terrible and the proposal totally devoid of scholarly value. As a 
matter of reputation I do not want to be professionally affiliated 
with a department that has this course, with this professor, on the 
books." (AR 2002.) 

Ultimately Ccllege's curriculum committee approved Petitioner's course. Both Thomas and 
Tompkins wrote letters to the committee "protesting" Petitioner's course propo.;al. (AR 581.) 
The curriculum committee rejected the "individual letters." (AR 581.) 

During the ccnflict over Petitioner's.course, on October 14, 2019, five days after Petitioner 
submitted his proposed course to the curriculum committee, Thomas volunteered to teach a 
course on Ellison. (AR 700, 2048.) The curriculum committee accepted Petitioner's course 
before having looked at the proposal Thomas sent. (AR 2047 .) That the courses were similar did 
not prevent the curriculum committee from approving both courses. (AR 2050.) 

Petitioner told Gray "he was planning to teach his course because he believed he was being 
'intellectual!~ brave' and that he was 'tired of being bullied.'" (AR 826.) Based e:1 the Ieng 
standing eenfliet between Petitioner and Themas (and te a lesser eK-t·ent Tompkins), the court 
finds Petitioner eredihle that he felt hYllieel. The ·.veight ef the evidenee s1::1pport; a finding 

pYrs1:1ed teact:iing tl=ie senior lei.iel coYrse in defiance of the \.'Deal opposition of Thomas making 
him feel "intellecb,,all'{ bra1Je." 

Petitioner asked eight faculty members, including Thomas, to teach the senior-level course. 
Petitioner told Thomas in advance of her turning down the opportunity to teacr the seminar if 
she did not want to teach, he would likely teach his Ellison class. After Thomas ceclined to 
teach the senior-level course, Petitioner agreed to do it. Thereafter, this episode of conflict 
surrounding Thomas and the course began. 

While the in-,estigator found Petitioner "pushed his own course proposal over Thomas'," #te 
v;eigl:it of th 2 substantial evidence does not support such a finding. 

First, Petitio1er could not "push" his course over that of Thomas. Thomas did not submit her 
course proposal to the Curriculum Committee until the day the Curriculum Corrmittee 
approved Petitioner's course. In fact, it was Thomas who acted to derail Petitioner's efforts to 
teach a course involving Ellison. 

Second, Petitioner told the investigator he felt bullied by Thomas and elected to move forward 
with his course proposal despite opposition by Thomas. 23 Petitioner had deferred to Thomas 

23 /\s noted, Petitioner's feeling of being bullied is supported by the 1,veight of the evidence. 
Thomas and Tompkins sent emails to department faculty complaining Petitioner should not be 
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and asked her whether she wished to teacli-a senior-level course. Petitioner advised Thomas if .. ....... . 
she did not teach, he would be required. to ~.o·so. Petitioner specifically informed Thomas he 
would teach "some version of the seminar [they] discussed in 2017-American writers who 
defend literature against sociological analysis (Ellison, Murray, Arendt, Jacobs, Kubler)." (AR 
2004.) Given that Thomas had all relevant in.formation about the senior-level course if he 
taught, Petitioner's response to proceed in his vjew was reasonable-everyone else, including 
Thomas, had declined to teach the senior-level course. 

The weight of the Substantial evidence does not s_upport College's finding Petitioner retaliated 
against Thomas based on racial discrimination. While Thomas may have had-as found by 
College-race issues associated with the department, the \tJeight of tt:ie substantial evidence 
does not support College's finding Petitioner acted against Thomas because of her race-related 
complaints about him. (AR 523.) Thomas strongly believed Petitioner was unqualified to teach a 
course concerning Ellison. Tl:le co1:1rt belie•.•es PetitioAer's assertioR he eliel Rot caf)it1:1late 
0eca1:1se he did Rot waRt to s1:1cc1:1m0 to 1:iis foeliRg of b1:1llying by Thomas a Rd Tomf)kiAs anel felt 
iAtellect1:1ally elefiant beca1:1se of their Of)positioR. While College believes Petitioner "abused the 
authority associated with his role as Chair," the co1:1rt finels the weight of the substantial 
evidence does not support a finding Petitioner acted in retaliation against Thomas based on her 
claims of racial discrimination. (AR 523.) 

Finally, on the issue of Petitioner's alleged retaliation based on his willingness to teach a senior­
level course eight other faculty members had declined to teach resulting in another conflict 
with Thomas, College found: 

"[Petitioner] made no attempt to separate his own personal 
interests from his leadership and administration of the 
Department's business, including the conflict associated with the 
competing course proposals. As Chair, [Petitioner) was in a 
powerful position to avoid this specific conflict with Thomas and 
rise above the curriculum dispu~e by working with her to ensure 
that a [senior-level] course was offered in the Spring semester; 
this could have gone a long way toward healing the divide within 
the English Department. Instead, the College finds that [Petitioner] 
abused the authority associated with his role as Chair and did 
everything in his power to thwart Thomas' interests and knowingly 
exacerbate her deep concerns about racism within the 
Department. (AR 523 [emphasis in original].) 

While College's belief Petitioner "abused the authority associated with his role as Chair" and 
exacerbated Thomas' "deep concerns about racism in the Department," may violate some 
policy at College, such action by Petitioner is not retaliation. The weight of the Substantial 

teaching his proposed course which, in Tompkin's view, was "devoid of scholarly value," and 
which Thomas labeled as "destructive dilettantism." (AR 2002, 2003.) 
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evidence does not support College's firioih~,.Pe!i~icme'r .. acted against Thomas based on Thomas' 
assertions of racial discrimination. ~<ei~~-e:/:4he SubstantiaLevidence also does not support 
the finding Petitioner~ pursued teaching,th'e.senior-1.evel course "motivated at least in part by 
Thomas' prior and sustained complaints regarding [Thomas's] sincerely held con-:erns over the 
race issues associated with his propos.al and more ger.erally within the Department." (AR 523.) 

College's Findings and Substantial Evidence 

Even assuming this court's review of College's findings is by substantial evidence. the results 
here would be no different. 

As to the First Finding, substantial evidence does not support a finding of retaliation by 
Petitioner against Thomas based on Thomas' protected assertions ofracial discrimination. 
College's reliance on four examples of alleged disparate treatment of Thomas b\l Petitioner 
related to the $300 in zines funding based on retaliation are unsupported. 

As noted earlier, Petitioner did not treat Kirk and Thomas differently. Petitioner expected both 
Kirk and Thomas to pursue funding as planned. Petitioner did nc;>t reqtJire one action by Thomas 
and something different from Kirk. The circumstances with Raff's funding provides no support 
for College's decision because College misunderstood.the facts concerning the $2,000 approved 
by the department, not Petitioner. In addition, funding related to persuading someone to 
become a faculty member as part of a start-up package is completely different than $300 of 
funding for a professor's course. There is also no evidence Petitioner violated any rule or 
department policy in attempting to create a tempting start-up package for a new hire. 

Petitioner's hot-dog slicing funding rationale as grounds for holding Thomas to her commitment 
to obtain a WIG grant does not ring true. Nonetheless, such evidence ~tanding·aJone is not 
substantial evidence Petitioner acted against Thomas in retaliat.ion when·she attempted to 
obtain $300 in funding for zines. 

As for Thomas' $2,400 funding request for the lnnerlight Method Course, substcntial evidence 
does not support a finding of retaliation by Petitioner against Thomas. The inve~tigator found 
Petitioner violated "the College's foundatiorJ of respect and: .. ~ense.of community vital to the 
College's educational enterprise.": (J.\R 821.} S.!,.1bstantial evidence, however, doe; not support 
College's finding of retaliation based on the $2,400 funding conflict. As noted ecrlier, Petitioner 
was rigid and inflexible about funding. Such rigidity ·and any alleged disrespectfLI impact may 
have violated some rule at the College. Without more, however, it is not substantial evidence of 
retaliation. As College recognizes, "the appearance of an action being retaliatorv, without more, 
is insufficient to support a finding of retaliation undt=r College policy.'~ (AR 523.) 

College's Second Finding that Petitioner ~cted in retaliation to prevent Thomas -=rom teaching 
her course is also not supported by substantial evidence. Thomas only chose to teach her 
senior-level course after she decided Petitioner should not be teaching a course on Ellison. 
Petitioner submitted his course proposal to the Curriculum Committee because no other faculty 
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member would teach a senior-level course~s·ubstantial evidence does not support a finding 
Petitioner tried to thwart Thomas' efforts. The.Curriculum Committee approved Petitioner's 
course the day Thomas submitted her competing course to the Curriculum Committee. 

Substantial evidence does not support College's finding Petitioner pushed his course over that 
of Thomas, or that he did so to retaliate against Thomas based on her complaint; of racial 
discrimination. After the spate of disparaging emails by Thomas and Tompkins, Fetitioner felt 
bullied and intellectually brave by teaching the course. Substantial evidence does not support 
College's finding Petitioner acted with "retaliatory intent" against Thomas based on race. 

CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, the petition is granted. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

November L 2022 

Judge of the Superior Court 

Page 33 of 33 




